
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

Alexandria Division 
__________________________________________ 
       ) 
VIVIENNE R. PARRA    ) 
127 Inyo Lane     ) 
Oceanside, CA 92058    ) 
       )  
       ) 
   Plaintiff,    ) 
       )   

v.       )  Civil Action No.  1:12-cv-926 
       )  
       ) 
SENTARA NORTHERN VIRGINIA  ) 
MEDICAL CENTER     ) 
(FORMERLY POTOMAC HOSPITAL)    ) 
2300 Opitz Boulevard    )   
Woodbridge, Virginia  22191   ) 

) 
 Serve Registered Agent:   ) 
 Jeffrey P. King     ) 

6015 Poplar Hall Drive, Suite 308  ) 
 Norfolk, Virginia 23502    )          
       ) 
   Defendant.   ) 
 _________________________________________ ) 
 
 

FIRST AMENDED CIVIL COMPLAINT  
FOR EQUITABLE AND MONETARY RELIEF 

AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

1. Plaintiff Vivienne Parra files this Civil Complaint against Defendant Sentara Northern 

Virginia Medical Center (formerly Potomac Hospital) (Sentara) for violations of the 

Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq., and violations of the Family 

and Medical Leave Act of 1993, 29 U.S.C. § 2601, et seq. 
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2. Parra worked for Sentara, then Potomac Hospital, in Woodbridge, Virginia from August 

2006 to September 2009.  

3. In April 2008, when Parra was six weeks pregnant with her second child, Parra’s doctor 

diagnosed her with invasive breast cancer. 

4. Parra submitted a plan of care to Sentara, dated April 11, 2008, from her doctors at the 

National Naval Medical Center. 

5.  Parra’s treatment plan included a radical mastectomy and chemotherapy, in addition to 

management of her high-risk pregnancy.   

6. Parra underwent a radical mastectomy in April 2008 and used FMLA leave for the 

surgery and her recovery.   

7. In November 2008, Parra took leave to give birth to her child, and started chemotherapy 

approximately three weeks after giving birth.  

8. When Parra returned to work in January 2009, Sentara failed to accommodate her 

disability and retaliated against her for her use of FMLA leave.   

9. In the only performance evaluation Parra had received from Sentara prior to her breast 

cancer and leave-taking, Parra had exceeded Sentara’s standards for Customer Service, 

Productivity, and Professionalism, and fully met all other standards. 

10. Throughout her employment with Sentara, and including upon her return from surgery 

and during her chemotherapy, Parra was a hard worker whose was praised by her 

colleagues for efficiency, diligence, work ethic, dedication, and attention to detail.   

11. But upon Parra’s return in January 2009, Sentara increased Parra’s workload and then 

demoted her, and relocated her, when she complained about the increased workload and 

expressed concerns that her treatment violated the law.   
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12. In July 2009, despite her ongoing chemotherapy treatment, which had caused Parra to 

experience complete hair loss and fatigue, Parra learned that she needed a second radical 

mastectomy.   

13. In July 2009, Parra requested FMLA leave for her second mastectomy, which was 

scheduled for September 2009.   

14. On August 26, 2009, Sentara, through Parra’s supervisor, Cathy Brandon, denied Parra’s 

medical leave request for her second mastectomy. 

15. Brandon told Parra that she was “no different than anyone else” and said, “For a cancer 

patient, you don’t look sick.”   

16. On or about August 31, 2009, Brandon relented and allowed Parra to take leave for her 

second mastectomy.    

17. On September 21, 2009, after Parra told Brandon she was ready to return to work, 

Brandon said Parra would be scheduled to resume work on September 22, 2009.    

18. But later on September 21, 2009, Marian McCoy, Parra’s second-line supervisor, called 

Parra and fired her.   

19. McCoy did not give Parra a reason for the firing.    

20. On September 25, 2009, Sentara sent Parra a termination letter, falsely stating that during 

the September 21, 2009 telephone conversation, Parra had been instructed “to make a 

decision regarding [her] interest in returning to work and [to] be prepared to make a 

commitment if [she was] interested in continuing the employment relationship.”  

21. The September 25, 2009 termination letter falsely concluded that Parra “no longer 

desired employment” with Sentara because she had failed to contact McCoy after their 

September 21, 2009 conversation – even though McCoy had fired Parra on September 21 
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without any discussion and without instructing Parra “to make a decision regarding her 

interest in returning to work.”    

22. Sentara actually fired Parra because she was disabled and because she had exercised her 

rights under the FMLA.     

PARTIES 

23. Parra is a resident of Oceanside, California and a former employee of Sentara.  While an 

employee of Sentara, then Potomac Hospital, Parra resided in Virginia and worked in 

Woodbridge, Virginia.  

24. Sentara Northern Virginia Medical Center, formerly Potomac Hospital, is located in 

Woodbridge, Virginia and specializes in cancer treatment.   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

25. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this complaint pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1331, because this is an action arising under the laws of United States, 

specifically, the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq. and the 

Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, 29 U.S.C. § 2601, et seq.     

26. Parra has exhausted the administrative remedies available to her under 42 U.S.C. §§ 

2000e, et seq.  The U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission issued Parra a 

Notice of Right to Sue on May 25, 2012.  This Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial is 

timely filed within the ninety day period afforded by 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e-5(f)(1). 

27. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Sentara because Sentara is a Virginia 

corporation and has substantial contacts with and conducts business within Virginia.  

28. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Sentara pursuant to Va. Code Ann. § 8.01-328 

et seq.  Parra’s cause of action arises from Sentara transacting business in Virginia.  
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Parra’s cause of action arises from Sentara contracting to supply services or things in 

Virginia.  Parra’s cause of action arises from Sentara having an interest in, using, or 

possessing real property in Virginia.   

29. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because all or a substantial 

part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claims herein occurred within this 

judicial district. 

FACTS 

Parra served in the U.S. Army before joining Sentara and was decorated for exceptionally 
meritorious service; in the one yearly performance review she received prior to her cancer 
treatment, she met or exceeded all of Sentara’s standards; and Sentara promoted her.   
 
30. Parra served in the U.S. Army as a Medical Specialist from July 1992 through September 

2003.   

31. She was awarded the Army Achievement Medal for exceptionally meritorious service as 

emergency medical aid personnel in Somalia in 2003.   

32. Parra began working at Sentara, then Potomac Hospital, in August 2006 as a Patient 

Registrar. 

33. As a Registrar, Parra provided quality customer service, efficiently registering all 

outpatients and inpatients.   

34. She performed additional duties, including a variety of administrative functions.    

35. Throughout her employment with Sentara, Parra was a hard worker whose was praised by 

her colleagues for efficiency, diligence, work ethic, dedication, and attention to detail.   

36. For the performance year ending August 28, 2007, Parra exceeded standards in Customer 

Service, Productivity, and Professionalism, and fully met all other standards.     

37. In that review, Parra’s supervisor made the following comments:  
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 Mrs. Parra is friendly and works well with patients and co-workers.  
 Mrs. Parra is a registrar whose quality is excellent, she is conscientious of 

her work and has not had any write offs during this reporting period. 
 Mrs. Parra works independently and is flexible in meeting work schedules 

and assigned duties. 
 Mrs. Parra attends all mandatory meetings and inservices for the 

department. 
 Mrs. Parra accepts criticism well and will provide her opinion when 

appropriate. 
 Mrs. Parra's charts are without errors her quality remains at 100% and she 

has not had a write off during this reporting period. 
 Mrs. Parra communicates with the staff and management appropriately. 
 Mrs. Parra is technically adept and follows policies and procedures 

appropriately. 
 Mrs. Parra demonstrates motivation by placing the needs of the team 

above her own and by remaining flexible with respect to overtime and 
coverage.  She is neat and appropriate for the work area. 

 
38. Sentara promoted Parra to Insurance Verification Specialist in August 2007. 

 
In April 2008, when six weeks pregnant, Parra was diagnosed with breast cancer; she took 
medical leave to give birth, undergo surgery, and receive chemotherapy.  
 
39. In April 2008, Parr discovered a lump in her right breast during a routine self-

examination.   

40. Parra’s doctor at the National Naval Medical Center (NNMC) in Bethesda, Maryland 

diagnosed Parra with breast cancer after a biopsy revealed the mass was malignant. 

41. Parra was six weeks pregnant when she learned she had breast cancer.    

42. In a letter dated April 11, 2008, Barbara Ganster, RN, BSN and Parra’s Case Manager at 

NNMC, said the following:  

Vivienne Parra has been diagnosed with breast cancer. She is currently under the 
care of a team of providers here at the National Naval Medical Center headed by 
COL Ismail Jatoi, Surgical Oncologist. Mrs. Parra will require surgery and 
chemotherapy as part of her treatment for breast cancer. Radiation therapy may 
also be recommended pending results of surgery. She is approximately six weeks 
pregnant which will further complicate the timing of her treatments. 

 
The estimated time line for the treatment plan is as follows:  
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 Surgery scheduled for April 22, 2008. She will need to be off work to recover 

for approximately 2-3 weeks. 
 Chemotherapy will begin when she has reached her second trimester of 

pregnancy at about 14 weeks gestation. She will have approximately 12 weeks 
of treatment then be given a break in the chemotherapy until the baby can be 
delivered safely. We estimate delivering the baby in November 2008. 

 Approximately 3-4 weeks after delivery she will begin another regimen of 
chemotherapy with a different agent for another 12 weeks. With this 
chemotherapy agent she will also start on a biological treatment. This therapy 
will be given intravenously every three weeks for one year.  

 Should she need radiation therapy, this can be started approximately three to 
four weeks after the final chemotherapy is given and while she is receiving the 
Herceptin treatment. Radiation therapy is given daily, five days a week for 
approximately six weeks. 

 
Her ability to continue to work during treatment will depend on her tolerance of 
the therapy and potential side effects. 
 

43. Parra provided NNMC’s April 11, 2008 plan of care to Cathy Brandon, Parra’s direct 

supervisor; Marion McCoy, Director, Registration; Frankie Picard, Vice President; and 

Human Resources.   

44. Parra underwent a radical mastectomy, as scheduled, on April 22, 2008.   

45. On May 13, 2008, Ganster, the NNMC Case Manager, provided another letter that Parra, 

in turn, provided to her supervisors.   

46. In her May 13, 2008 letter, Ganster reiterated the plan of care she had outlined on April 

11, 2008 and noted the following:  “At this time [Parra] is still recovering from her 

surgery and will likely need an additional week prior to returning to work. Estimate she 

may attempt to return to work on May 19, 2008.”  

47. On May 23, 2008, NNMC, through Ganster, provided a third letter that Parra, in turn, 

provided to her supervisors.   

48. In her May 23, 2008 letter, Ganster said that Parra “may return to work on May 26, 

2008.”   
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49. Parra returned to work consistent with Ganster’s letter.   

50. In November 2008, Parra took leave to give birth to her child.  

51. Because of her cancer, Parra’s doctors induced labor a month prior to Parra’s due date.   

52. Parra’s daughter, her second child, was born without medical complications.    

53. Pursuant to her treatment plan, Parra started chemotherapy approximately three weeks 

after she gave birth.   

54. Parra returned to work in approximately January 2009.   

55. She continued her chemotherapy after returning to work.   

56. Parra’s post-surgical chemotherapy resulted in complete hair loss and, as is usual with 

such treatment, fatigue and lethargy.   

Sentara demoted Parra to the Patient Registrar position and placed her on leave without 
pay when she returned to work after giving birth and starting her chemotherapy 
treatment.  
 
57. When Parra returned to work in January 2009, her supervisors increased her workload.     

58. She was given more work than her colleagues, despite the fact that other staff members 

were available to more equitably share the workload.   

59. Despite the effects of her chemotherapy, Parra’s work ethic, dedication, and diligence did 

not change after she returned to work.   

60. On March 5, 2009, Parra emailed Brandon to explain that she was having difficulty 

completing her increased workload while continuing to receive chemotherapy.    

61. On March 6, 2009, Brandon and McCoy demoted Parra to Patient Registrar.   

62. Brandon and McCoy characterized the demotion as “a change in work duties.” 

63. Parra told them that it was a demotion and violated the law.   
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64. Although Parra was upset that Brandon and McCoy did not lessen her workload and 

instead demoted her, she agreed to return to the Patient Registrar position. 

65. Brandon, in addition to demoting Parra, also required her to relocate to the basement of 

the hospital. 

66. On or about April 8, 2009, Brandon told Parra to speak to McCoy when Parra raised 

concerns about her relocation.   

67. Parra told Brandon that she did not want to speak to McCoy without a witness present. 

68. McCoy, that same day, issued a letter to Parra expressing concern about what McCoy 

called Parra’s “unacceptable attitude, inappropriate behavior and unsatisfactory job 

performance.”   

69. McCoy referred to Parra’s “personal situation,” “personal issues,” and “some difficulties 

in [Parra’s] personal life.” 

70. McCoy said Parra was “no different than any other employee in our Department.”      

71. McCoy copied Human Resources on her April 8, 2008 letter to Parra and the letter was 

placed in Parra’s file.   

72. Human Resources then contacted Parra and placed her on leave without pay from April 

13, 2009 to April 17, 2009.   

In July 2009, Parra requested FMLA leave to have a second mastectomy and provided the 
necessary medical certification.    
 
73. In approximately July 2009, Parra learned that she needed to undergo a second radical 

mastectomy to treat her breast cancer.   

74. Parra requested extended FMLA leave for the second mastectomy, which was scheduled 

for September 2009.   
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75. In an email on July 16, 2009, Human Resources employee Susan Reis told Parra the 

following: “You used up FMLA on 12/28/2008. You received back an eligibility of some 

FMLA for four weeks, 3 days starting on April 22, 2009.”   

76. Reis also asked Parra to complete a Medical Certification Statement updating her medical 

information since Ganster’s letter of May 23, 2008.   

77. Parra complied with the request.   

78. In a Medical Certification Statement dated July 23, 2009, Dr. Marijo Bilusic at NNMC 

told Sentara the following:  

 Parra’s condition began in April 2008 and was expected to end in December 
2009. 

 Parra had undergone a radical mastectomy and had started chemotherapy. 
 Parra “will need time off to meet various appointments at the [NNMC].  She 

will need to continue to need treatment and follow up and be seen in 
Oncology every 3 [weeks], as well as breast care center and [patient] support 
[appointments].”    

  
79. In another Medical Certification Statement also dated July 23, 2009, Dr. Bilusic told 

Sentara the following:  

 Parra would need treatment through November 2009.   
 Parra “has breast cancer and has undergone surgery & is still getting chemotherapy 

until 11/09 after which she’ll still need follow up.”  
 Parra “will need time off to attend medical [appointments] & receive medical exams 

& chemotherapy.”  
 
80. In the meantime, following Parra’s July 2009 FMLA request, Brandon and McCoy 

returned Parra to her former insurance verification duties.   

81. After that reassignment, Parra again found it difficult to complete her work assignments 

while attending her medical appointments and receiving treatment for her breast cancer. 
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Sentara initially denied Parra’s FMLA leave request, and then relented; but fired her 
before she could return to work after her second mastectomy, purportedly because she 
“voluntarily” left her job.   
 
82. On August 26, 2009, Reis, in Human Resources, sent Parra the following email:  

I just double checked your FMLA usage - Sept 1 to Sept 1 2009 (rolling back rule 
for leave request) and I am finding that you only have 1 week and 1 day of FMLA 
left going into that time period of your proposed leave request. 
 
I have your intermittent leave form on file and I can see that your department has 
been designating FMLA as you call out. 
 
Please discuss with [Brandon and McCoy] your options.   
 

83. Around the same time, Brandon asked Parra probing and hostile questions about her 

second mastectomy.   

84. Brandon again told Parra, “You’re no different than anyone else,” in response to Parra’s 

leave request.   

85. Brandon also told Parra, “For a cancer patient, you don’t look sick,” and asked Parra why 

she was not having her surgery at Sentara.    

86. Nonetheless, Parra applied for FMLA leave on August 27, 2009, requesting leave from 

September 1, 2009 through September 21, 2009.   

87. In her FMLA application, Parra wrote the following under “Reason for the leave”:  

Per surgeon surgery must be done stat due to continued treatment based on 
previous diagnosis from last year and difficulty accommodating me for surgery 
due to wounded soldiers arriving from Iraq & Afghanistan. If unable to perform 
earlier, indefinite for future schedule.   
 

88. On August 31, 2009, Parra sent Brandon the following email:   

I did not get a chance to speak to you regarding surgery dates and would like to 
know if my FMLA extension has been approved for the surgery. I left the form 
under your door on Thursday Ms. Reis informed me that same day.  Also, in the 
new schedule I did not notice my current status please if possible e-mail me when 
you can regarding this.  According to my physician my surgery is an emergency 
and must be done on 090109 and questions feel free to e-mail me. Thank you. 
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89. Brandon eventually relented and allowed Parra to take leave to undergo her second 

mastectomy.   

90. Parra had the surgery on September 1, 2009 and began her recovery.  

91. On September 17, 2009 and again on September 21, 2009, Parra requested to return to 

work. 

92. Brandon responded by saying that she was going to put Parra on the schedule starting 

September 22, 2009.   

93. In an email to Brandon on September 17, 2009, with the subject line “SCHEDULED 

APPTS,” Parra said the following:   

I wanted to just e-mail you as soon as I received my upcoming appointments in 
case you might need it for next schedule. I do have upcoming schedules that are 
not listed so I will have to get back to Surgical. Should I need to update my 
FMLA please let me know and I will manage that with Ms. Reis. Is it possible for 
you to send me next months schedule? Thank you. 
 

94. Brandon responded that same day, September 17, 2009, as follows:  

For some reason I'm not able to open the attachment therefore if you could just 
send an email with the dates. Also did you receive the email I sent you last week 
if not I will send it again. When are you planning to return to work so that I may 
update my schedule. I had not put you on for next week b/c I had not heard 
anything from you? 
 

95. Parra replied to Brandon on September 18, 2009:   

I got back this afternoon from my appointment so it is just this evening I got a 
chance to check my e-mail. Very sorry, from the time I had surgery I was truly 
not feeling well, it was only this week I regained some of my stability and 
strength. My 3 weeks recovery concludes on Monday and I will most definitely 
return to work Tuesday after I check in with employee health in the morning. 
 
The attachments I had sent was a couple of my appt dates for next week, they are 
as follows: 
 
Wednesday 092309 0800 and Thursday 092409 1045. As always a copy will be 
submitted to you. I did receive both e-mails. Thank you. 
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96. Brandon emailed Parra on September 21, 2009, telling Parra that she was back on the 

schedule:  

You are on the schedule starting tomorrow Sept 21, 2009 from 10a-630p, however you 
must be cleared by Employee Health before starting work. Please call them at ext 1338 to 
schedule a time for you to be seen.  Their walk in hours are 730a-830a and 2p-3p 
therefore you need to see them prior to the start of your shift at 10a. 
 

97. Parra, still on September 21, 2009, then emailed Brandon to clarify the date of Parra’s 

return to work:  

You have me down to return on 21 Sep 09 which is today. My recovery ends on Monday 
today. Did you mean 22 Sep 09, Tuesday? Thank you. 
 

98. Brandon, on September 21, 2009, emailed Parra, confirming the correct date: “I’m sorry 

it’s tomorrow Tuesday Sept 22, 2009.”    

99. After Brandon’s September 21, 2009 email telling Parra that she was scheduled to return 

to work the next day, McCoy called Parra, still on September 21, 2009, and told her that 

Sentara was firing her.   

100. This telephone call between Parra and McCoy lasted less than two minutes, and McCoy 

did not explain the reason for Parra’s termination.   

101. McCoy later produced a memorandum in which she falsely described the conversation 

and provided a false explanation for why Sentara had fired Parra.   

102. In that memorandum, McCoy made the following false statements:   

Ms. Parra did not provide leave documents to me prior to her absence as 
instructed by Susan Reis in Human Resources.  Ms. Parra had no PDO and 7 days 
FMLA left when she scheduled her surgery.  It was explained to her by her 
supervisor, Ms. Brandon and Susan Reis that she is not eligible to FMLA beyond 
what has already been granted.  Ms. Parra e-mailed Ms. Brandon on Monday and 
indicated that she wanted to be placed on the Registration schedule and she also 
wanted accommodation for additional time off during the week that she planned 
to return.   
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I called Ms. Parra and explained to her that as a result of her failure to follow 
instructions provided by Susan Reis about applying for an LOA and speaking 
with me directly about her upcoming surgery she technically is no longer 
employed by Potomac Hospital.  After using the remaining FMLA days, she had 
no additional coverage for the unscheduled absence and she exceeded the days 
excused by policy.  She had chosen not to communicate with Registration 
management about her plans during her absence.   
 
I told her that although she told Ms. Brandon that she wanted to be placed on the 
schedule this week, that we are not prepared to place her on the schedule.  
Because she had not communicated with us during her absence, we have replaced 
her on the schedule.   
 
I told her that if she is interested in retaining her employment relationship 
with Potomac Hospital that she must present a compelling reason for me that 
would convince me to permit her to be placed on the schedule.  I told her to 
think this through and contact me this week to see what time is available on my 
calendar to meet with her.   
 
Ms. Parra replied “So what am I supposed to do now?”  I repeated that she needed 
to think this over and contact me this week to set up an appointment.   
 
She said OK and hung up.     
 
(Emphasis added.)  
 

103. Sentara, through McCoy, sent Parra a termination letter on September 25, 2009, falsely 

claiming that McCoy, Brandon, and Parra had discussed the conditions of Parra’s return 

to work during the September 21, 2009 telephone call.   

104. McCoy’s September 25, 2009 termination letter falsely said the following:  

On Monday, September 21, 2009, we discussed the conditions of your return to 
work by telephone. Your supervisor, Cathy Brandon, participated with us in the 
discussion. The instructions given to you were to make a decision regarding 
your interest in returning to work and be prepared to make a commitment if 
you were interested in continuing the employment relationship. You were 
instructed to give appropriate thought to our discussion and contact me within a 
day or two to arrange a meeting time prior to the close of business on Friday, 
September 25, 2009. 
 
Because I have not heard from you, I will conclude that you no longer desire 
employment at Potomac Hospital. Therefore, your effective date of 
termination will be August 31, 2009.  
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In the event there is a reason for not contacting me that was beyond your control, 
please notify me no later than Friday, October 2, 2009. 
 
If I do not hear from you I will terminate your employment effective August 31, 
2009, which was your last work day. 
  
(Emphasis added).   
 

105. In a letter dated November 6, 2009, Ganster, the NNMC Case Manager, said the 

following:   

Mrs. Parra was originally seen in the Breast Care Department on March 12, 2008. 
A biopsy was done on April 2, 2008 which confirmed invasive breast cancer. Two 
days later testing revealed she was approximately six weeks pregnant. She has 
been followed and treated by a team of providers which include: medical 
oncology, radiation oncology, surgical oncology, high risk obstetrics, plastic 
surgery, physical therapy, social work, case management and 
evaluation/counseling by the cancer genetics team. 
 
Over the past 19 months Mrs. Parra’s various treatments have included 
chemotherapy, surgery, and physical therapy. She continued to work taking time 
off only as needed to recover from surgical procedures, complications from 
chemotherapy and the birth of her daughter. Her most recent surgical procedure 
was September 1, 2009 and she required 3 weeks off from work to fully recover 
from the procedure. 
 
Mrs. Parra let me know that her employer was requesting a 30 day notification 
prior to all appointments and procedures. On August 26, 2009 a letter was fax'd to 
the employer. In this communication I explained National Naval Medical Center 
(NNMC) was a military facility continuing to receive wounded troops daily from 
two armed conflict areas. Constraints on surgical services including surgeon and 
operating room availability, plus the demands on caring for casualties, required us 
to perform her surgery on September 1 as scheduled. On September 21, 2009 
Mrs. Parra called me in tears stating she had been contacted by her 
immediate supervisor at work and told she [was] not to come in the following 
day, that her employment had been terminated. 
 
Mrs. Parra continues to be treated in Oncology and comes in one day every three 
weeks for infusions. Once treatment is completed she will need close surveillance 
and we anticipate one of the physicians seeing her every three months for the next 
two years. 
 
(Emphasis added).   
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COUNT I 
Interference 

Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, 29 U.S.C. § 2601, et seq. 
 

106. Parra hereby incorporates the allegations set forth in the foregoing paragraphs as though 

fully alleged herein.   

107. At all relevant times to this complaint, Sentara was an “employer” as defined by the 

FMLA.   

108. At all relevant times to this complaint, Parra was an “eligible employee” as defined by 

the FMLA.   

109. At all relevant times to this complaint, Parra had a right under the FMLA to twelve 

workweeks of leave during any twelve month period for family and health-related 

matters. 

110. Breast cancer qualifies as a “serious health condition” as that term is defined in 29 U.S.C. 

§ 2611(11)(B). 

111. At all relevant times to this complaint, Sentara had a duty under the FMLA not to 

interfere with Parra’s rights under the FMLA. 

112. Sentara interfered with Parra’s rights under the FMLA when it calculated her amount of 

leave on a rolling basis.   

113.  Sentara interfered with Parra’s rights under the FMLA when it denied her the use of her 

FMLA leave to undergo her second mastectomy.   

114. Sentara interfered with Parra’s rights under the FMLA when Brandon asked Parra 

probing and hostile questions about her surgery and said she was “no different than 

anyone else” and “For a cancer patient, you don’t look sick.”  

Case 1:12-cv-00926-CMH-TRJ   Document 9    Filed 12/28/12   Page 16 of 24 PageID# 90



17 
 

115. Sentara interfered with Parra’s rights under the FMLA when it terminated her 

employment after she requested to return to work following her FMLA leave in 

September 2009 and after Sentara had said she could return to work following her leave. 

116. Sentara willfully and intentionally interfered with Parra’s rights under the FMLA.    

 
COUNT II 
Retaliation 

Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, 29 U.S.C. § 2601, et seq. 
 

117. Parra hereby incorporates the allegations set forth in the foregoing paragraphs as though 

fully alleged herein.   

118. At all relevant times to this complaint, Sentara was an “employer” as defined by the 

FMLA.    

119. At all relevant times to this complaint, Parra was an “eligible employee” as defined by 

the FMLA.    

120. At all relevant times to this complaint, Parra had a right under the FMLA to twelve 

workweeks of leave during any twelve month period for family and health-related 

matters.   

121. During the course of her employment with Sentara, Parra exercised her rights under the 

FMLA.     

122. Parra exercised her rights under the FMLA when she requested and took FMLA leave to 

receive treatment for breast cancer, including a radical mastectomy and chemotherapy.   

123. Parra exercised her rights under the FMLA when she requested and took FMLA leave to 

give birth to her second child.    

124. Parra exercised her rights under the FMLA when she requested and took FMLA leave for 

her second mastectomy in September 2009.       
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125. Parra used her FMLA leave in compliance with the FMLA regulations, which required 

Sentara to reinstate Parra upon her return to work.  29 C.F.R. § 825.124.   

126. At all relevant times to this complaint, Sentara had a duty under the FMLA not to 

retaliate against Parra for exercising her rights under the FMLA.   

127. At all relevant times to this complaint, Sentara had knowledge of the fact that Parra had 

taken FMLA leave.  

128. Additionally, Sentara was aware of the continuing effects of Parra’s breast cancer and 

chemotherapy treatments as well as the prospect that she would likely have to utilize the 

rest of her FMLA for that year and future years.   

129. Sentara retaliated against Parra by firing her, at least in part, because she exercised her 

rights under the FMLA. 

130. Sentara willfully and intentionally fired Parra because she exercised her rights under the 

FMLA.   

131. Sentara’s purported legitimate business reason for its decision to fire Parra is pretext. 

 
COUNT III 

Failure to Accommodate 
Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq. 

 
132. Parra hereby incorporates the allegations set forth in the foregoing paragraphs as though 

fully alleged herein.   

133. At all relevant times to this complaint, Sentara was an “employer” as defined by the 

Americans with Disabilities Act. 

134. At all times relevant to this complaint, Parra was an “employee” as defined by the ADA.  

135. In April 2008, Parra’s doctor diagnosed her with breast cancer. 

136. Because of her breast cancer, Parra had a “disability” as defined by the ADA.   
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137. Parra had a “disability” as defined by 42 U.S.C. § 12102(1)(A) in that her breast cancer, 

including her surgeries and chemotherapy treatments, was an impairment that 

substantially limited one or more of her major life activities, including work. 

138. Sentara had notice of Parra’s disability when she submitted a plan of care for her breast 

cancer, dated April 11, 2008, to her supervisor, director, vice principal, and the Human 

Resources Office.  

139. Sentara had additional notice of Parra’s disability when she submitted subsequent 

medical documentation related to her breast cancer and treatment.   

140. Parra requested an accommodation from Sentara for her disability when she requested 

leave for treatment and recovery.   

141. On March 5, 2009, Parra requested an accommodation from Sentara for her disability 

when she emailed Brandon, asking her to distribute work more evenly among the 

Insurance Verification Specialists.  

142. Instead of accommodating Parra, Brandon and McCoy demoted Parra back to the Patient 

Registrar position in our about April 2009.   

143. Instead of accommodating Parra, Sentara fired Parra.   

144. Sentara failed to accommodate Parra’s disability.  

145. Had Sentara accommodated Parra’s disability, she would have been able to perform the 

essential functions of her job.  

146. Sentara refused to engage in an interactive process to determine a reasonable 

accommodation for Parra’s disability.  

147. Sentara violated the ADA when it failed to accommodate Parra’s disability, placed her on 

leave without pay status, and fired her.   
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148. Parra was damaged by Sentara’s violation of the ADA.  

 
COUNT IV 
Retaliation  

Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq. 

149. Parra hereby incorporates the allegations set forth in the foregoing paragraphs as though 

fully alleged herein.   

150. At all relevant times to this complaint, Sentara was an “employer” as defined by the 

ADA.  

151. At all times relevant to this complaint, Parra was an “employee” as defined by the ADA 

152. Parra had a “disability” as defined by 42 U.S.C. § 12102(1)(A) in that her breast cancer, 

including her surgeries and chemotherapy treatments, was an impairment that 

substantially limited one or more of her major life activities, including work. 

153. Parra engaged in legally protected activity under the ADA when she asked Sentara for a 

reasonable accommodation for her disability.  

154. Sentara was aware that Parra had breast cancer and that she requested a reasonable 

accommodation.  

155. At all relevant times to this complaint, Sentara had a duty under the ADA not to retaliate 

against Parra for exercising her rights under the ADA.  

156. Sentara retaliated against Parra for exercising her rights under the ADA when it demoted 

her, placed her on leave without pay status, and when it fired her.  

157. Sentara willfully and intentionally retaliated against Parra because she exercised her 

rights under the ADA. 

158. Sentara violated the ADA when it retaliated against Parra by demoting her, placing her 

on leave without pay status, and firing her. 
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159. Parra was damaged by Sentara’s violation of the ADA.  

 
COUNT V 

Discrimination 
Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq. 

160. Parra hereby incorporates the allegations set forth in the foregoing paragraphs as though 

fully alleged herein.   

161. At all relevant times to this complaint, Parra was a “person” and an “employee,” and 

Sentara was an “employer” and a “covered entity” as defined by the ADA.   

162. Parra had a “disability” as defined by 42 U.S.C. § 12102(1)(A) in that her breast cancer, 

including her surgeries and chemotherapy treatments, was an impairment that 

substantially limited one or more of her major life activities, including work. 

163. Had Sentara accommodated Parra’s disability, she would have been able to perform the 

essential functions of her job.  

164. Sentara had notice of Parra’s disability when she submitted a plan of care, dated April11, 

2008, to her supervisor, director, vice principal, and the Human Resources Office.  

165. Sentara had additional notice of Parra’s disability when she submitted subsequent 

medical documentation related to her breast cancer and treatment.   

166. At the time of Parra’s termination, she was qualified to perform the essential functions of 

her position with a reasonable accommodation.  

167. Parra’s discharge occurred under circumstances that raise a reasonable inference of 

unlawful discrimination.   

168. Sentara discriminated against Parra on the basis of her disability including, but not 

limited to, when it demoted her, placed her on leave without pay status from April 13 to 

April 17, 2009, and when it fired her on September 21, 2009.  
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169. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 12112(a), it is unlawful for a covered entity to “discriminate 

against a qualified individual with a disability because of the disability of such individual 

in regard to . . . discharge of employees.” 

170. Sentara’s purported legitimate business reason for its decision to fire Parra is pretext. 

171. Parra has been damaged as a result of Sentara’s unlawful acts. 

 
PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Based on the foregoing, Parra respectfully requests that she be awarded the following relief 

against Sentara:  

a. Reinstatement or, in lieu thereof, full front pay, stock options and benefits; 

b. Economic damages for lost wages and benefits, including two times the amount 

of back pay, interest on the back pay, and compensation for any special damages sustained as a 

result of the retaliation and reprisal;  

c. Compensatory (non-economic) damages, including but not limited to damages for 

emotional distress and loss of reputation;  

d. Punitive damages to punish Sentara for malicious acts of retaliation and to deter it 

from similar retaliatory conduct toward other employees;  

e. Injunctive or equitable relief, as may be appropriate, to prevent further harm to 

others and the public caused by Sentara’s retaliation against a whistleblower; 

f. Punitive damages to be determined at trial;  

g. Reasonable litigation costs, expert fees, and reasonable attorneys’ fees; and  

h. Any other such relief that the Court may deem just and equitable. 
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

 Plaintiff demands a trial by jury for any and all issues proper to be so tried. 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 
 /s/ John T. Harrington   
R. Scott Oswald, VSB #41770  
John T. Harrington, VSB #76008 
The Employment Law Group, P.C. 
888 17th Street, N.W., 9th floor 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
(202) 261-2806 
(202) 261-2835 (facsimile) 
soswald@employmentlawgroup.com 
tharrington@employmentlawgroup.com 
 

    
Counsel for Plaintiff  
Dated:  December 28, 2012  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy of the foregoing First Amended 

Complaint was served on this 28th day of December, 2012 via certified mail upon: 

 
Jeffrey P. King  
6015 Poplar Hall Drive, Suite 308 
Norfolk, Virginia 23502 
 
Registered Agent for Sentara Northern Virginia Medical Center    

 

 

        /s/   
       John T. Harrington 
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